FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/7/2022 2:11 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>100</u>623-3 Court of Appeals No. 37661-3-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

OLAJIDE ADEL FLETCHER,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey Erwin Ellis
Attorney for Mr. Fletcher

Law Office of Alsept & Ellis 621 SW Morrison St. Ste 1025 Portland, OR 97205 503.222.9830 (o) JeffreyErwinEllis@gmail.com

I. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY

Olajide Adel Fletcher, Petitioner, seeks the relief designated in Part II.

II. DECISION

The Court of Appeals granted the State's appeal, reversed the superior court's decision granting Mr. Fletcher's CrR 7.8 motion, and directed the superior court to reinstate the original judgment and sentence. *State v. Fletcher*, __ Wn. App. __, 497 P.3d 886, 894 (2021). A motion to reconsider was denied on January 11, 2022. Copies of both the opinion and the denial of reconsideration are attached.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Does RCW 10.73.140, which precludes the court of appeals from considering a second or successive personal restraint petition, likewise apply to a superior court and therefore requires the court of appeal to grant a state's appeal from a successful motion to vacate?
- B. Must a defendant show good cause for a successive collateral attack when he was pro se during the prior proceeding? Does the lower court's failure to exempt Mr. Fletcher from the good cause requirement conflict with this Court's decisions?

IV. FACTS

After negotiations, the State and Mr. Fletcher entered into a plea agreement whereby Fletcher pleaded guilty to two crimes, including a count of second-degree assault with a joint recommendation of an exceptional sentence of 120 months. The statement on plea of guilty identified Mr. Fletcher's offender score on that count as "8." CP 10-11, 14.

Mr. Fletcher was sentenced on February 23, 2016. His offender score for the assault was calculated as an "8." The sentencing court followed the recommendation and imposed an exceptional sentence of 120 months. CP 26.

On March 18, 2016, Mr. Fletcher filed a pro se motion to modify the judgment and sentence pursuant to CrR 7.8, seeking a standard range sentence of 106 months in confinement. CP 41. The superior court transferred the motion to the Court of Appeals for consideration as a personal restraint petition. Mr. Fletcher was also pro se in the Court of Appeals, which dismissed the petition as frivolous. CP 49, 52-54.

Three years later Mr. Fletcher filed a second CrR 7.8 motion, arguing that the sentencing court incorrectly calculated his offender

score. Specifically, he asserted that the court incorrectly included his two juvenile convictions that should have washed out making his correct offender score "4," rather than "8." CP 58, 63.

In response, the State argued that the motion was barred as improperly successive under RCW 10.73.140. CP 94, 158-59. Mr. Fletcher replied by filing a declaration certifying that his previous petition did not present similar grounds and arguing that he had good cause for not raising the offender score in his previous petition because he did not have access to his judgment and sentence. Mr. Fletcher argued that the lack of access was "an external objective impediment" that prevented him from raising the issue. According to Mr. Fletcher, he requested a copy of his judgment and sentence from defense counsel, but never received that document so could not check the offender score calculation. CP 135, 139-53.

The superior court held that Mr. Fletcher's judgment was facially invalid, and thus his motion was timely. The court also found that Fletcher had established good cause for not including the issue in his first motion. Finally, the court found prejudice, concluding that if the sentencing court had known the parties relied on an erroneous offender

score and standard range when they negotiated the agreement, the sentencing court likely would have departed from the agreement and imposed a lower sentence. Accordingly, the court held that Mr. Fletcher was entitled to re-sentencing with the proper offender score and proper standard range. CP 564, 578-79. The State did not immediately appeal the order granting the motion to vacate.

Instead, the case proceeded to resentencing where the court ordered a high-end standard range sentence of 77 months.¹

V. ARGUMENT

A. Introduction

The Court of Appeals erred in two respects. First, the limitation in RCW 10.73.140 applies only to the "court of appeals," not the superior court. Likewise, the statute does not require reversal of a superior court decision granting a motion to vacate. Second, the "good"

¹ Mr. Fletcher has now served the entire sentence and has been released from prison. Because he has done so and because the State could have but did not appeal from the order vacating the judgment prior to a resentencing, Mr. Fletcher contends that re-imposing the original sentence would constitute double jeopardy. See *State v*. *Hardesty*, 129 Wash. 2d 303, 313, 915 P.2d 1080 (1996) (citing various considerations). Obviously, if this Court accepts review and reverses that issue becomes moot.

cause" requirement applies only to prior PRPs where a petitioner was represented by counsel. Because that issue is controlled by clear precedent from this Court and dispositive, Fletcher starts there.

B. A Showing of Good Cause is Not Required Where the Petitioner was Pro Se During the Prior Proceeding.

The Court of Appeals vacated the order granting vacation of the judgment and remanded for reinstatement of the original sentence after concluding that Fletcher had not shown good cause for failing to include the instant issue in his prior motion to vacate. The court held: "Since we find that Mr. Fletcher has failed to show good cause for not including the offender score issue in his first motion, we conclude that his second motion is successive and barred by the requirements of RCW 10.73.140 as applied through CrR 7.8(b)." Fletcher, 497 P.3d at 894. The lower court failed to consider one crucial fact: Fletcher was pro se during that prior proceeding. Imposing the good cause limitation where the petitioner was pro se during the prior proceeding conflicts with precedent.²

² The State may respond by noting that Fletcher's prior counsel, both in the trial court and on appeal, accepted that he was required to show good cause. However, since it is the State's burden to show the applicability of the exception and because the undisputed historical

A petition may be improperly successive under either RCW 10.73.140 or RAP 16.4(d). *In re Pers. Restraint of VanDelft*, 158 Wash.2d 731, 737, 147 P.3d 573 (2006). The statute calls for dismissal of a PRP where the petitioner has not established good cause why the issues in the current PRP were not raised in an earlier PRP. RCW 10.73.140. That is because it constitutes an "abuse of the writ" to file a second petition with a new issue that could have been included in the first proceeding. If a petitioner shows good cause for not including that issue previously, then the limitation does not apply.

This Court explained in *In re Adolph*, 170 Wash. 2d 556, 565, 243 P.3d 540 (2010):

If the [defendant] was represented by counsel throughout postconviction proceedings, it is an abuse of the writ for him or her to raise ... a new issue that was available but not relied upon in a prior petition. In re Pers. Restraint of Turay, 153 Wash.2d 44, 48, 101 P.3d 854 (2004) (quoting In re Pers. Restraint of Jeffries, 114 Wash.2d 485, 492, 789 P.2d 731 (1990) (quoting Kuhlmann v. Wilson, 477 U.S. 436, 444 n. 6, 106 S.Ct. 2616, 91 L.Ed.2d 364 (1986))). Here, Adolph acted pro se in both his first PRP and the current PRP. Because he was not represented by counsel throughout postconviction proceedings, Adolph's failure to raise

record definitively shows that the exception does not apply, Fletcher contends he can raise the deficiency in the State's reliance on that exception now. Obviously, Fletcher will file a PRP claiming ineffective assistance of both prior attorneys if needed. However, he respectfully requests that this Court consider the argument at this juncture.

the current issue in his prior PRP is not an abuse of the writ. We hold Adolph's PRP is not procedurally barred.

(internal quotation marks omitted). See also In re Greening, 141 Wash. 2d 687, 700, 9 P.3d 206, 213 (2000). Because only when a petitioner was represented by counsel throughout postconviction proceedings is it an abuse of the writ for him to raise, in a successive petition, a new issue that was available but not relied upon in a prior petition, the good cause requirement simply does not apply in this instance. See also *In re* Martinez, 171 Wash. 2d 354, 363, 256 P.3d 277, 282 (2011) (where petitioner was pro se in prior proceeding, subsequent petition raisign new issue was not an abuse of the writ under RAP 16.4(d) and does not bar Mr. Martinez's collateral attack). Where the petitioner was pro se during a prior collateral attack, the State explicitly "declined to rely on the abuse of the writ doctrine, likely because it did not apply." In re Adams, 178 Wash. 2d 417, 432, 309 P.3d 451 (2013) (Gordon-McCloud, J. concurring).

Moreover, the good cause requirement that can arise when a successive petition is filed is an affirmative defense that the State must plead. *Turay*, 153 Wash.2d at 48. An essential element of that defense is that the petitioner was represented by counsel in the prior

proceeding, something that the State has never contended or plead in this case.

Because the lower court's decision applies the good cause requirement notwithstanding the fact that Fletcher was previously prose, the decision conflicts with controlling precedent from this Court. For that reason, this Court should grant review.

To be clear, Fletcher contends that he demonstrated good cause, although that is not required. Good cause exists for raising a new issue in a successive petition if "an external objective impediment" prevented raising the issue in the prior petition. *In re Pers. Restraint of Vazquez*, 108 Wn. App. 307, 315, 31 P.3d 16 (2001). A mere "self-created hardship" does not suffice. *Id*.

Here, the trial court also did not provide him a copy of his judgment and sentence as the SRA requires. CP 135. The statute requires the trial court to submit copies of "all written findings of facts and conclusions of law as to sentencing" to the Department of Corrections ("DOC"). RCW 9.94A.500(1). In turn, DOC must ensure the judgment and sentence "accompany the offender" in DOC custody. *Id*.

The only document available at the law library at Mr. Fletcher's facility was a copy of his plea agreement sent by trial counsel. CP 135, 139-53. Either the trial court did not submit the judgment and sentence to DOC, or DOC failed to ensure it accompanied Mr. Fletcher. CP 136, see CP 161 (alerting the trial court to RCW 9.94A.500). Either way, Mr. Fletcher did not have access to it.

Had Mr. Fletcher received a copy of the judgment and sentence, he could have noticed the washed-out convictions in his criminal history. CP 24, 136. Instead, he had access only to his plea agreement, which did not list his prior convictions. CP 10-21, 135-36. His inability to review the judgment was an external impediment, as he "had no control over what documents were transferred with him from the county jail." CP 136. The trial court correctly found Mr. Fletcher showed good cause for not raising his miscalculated offender score in his first motion. CP 163. The court of appeals erred both by requiring good cause and by finding that Fletcher had not made such a showing.

C. Even Assuming the Good Cause Requirement Applies, The Limitation on Consideration of a Successive Petition Only Applies to a PRP Filed in the Court of Appeals, Not an Appeal from a Motion to Vacate.

Mr. Fletcher commenced the current proceeding by filing a motion for relief from judgment under CrR 7.8(b) in superior court. His motion was granted and the State appealed following resentencing. In other words, the Court of Appeals reviewed a State's appeal, not Fletcher's PRP.

After incorrectly imposing the good cause requirement on Fletcher, the Court of Appeals vacated the order granting a new sentencing hearing. Although the parties both agreed that since the successive petition bar under RCW 10.73.140 only applies to petitions "filed" in the Court of Appeals, the lower court nevertheless concluded that a motion to vacate constituted a PRP, that an appeal by the State was the same as filing a PRP, and the transfer provisions of RAP 16.5(c) do not apply. *Fletcher*, 497 P.3d at 894.

The jurisdictional limitations of RCW 10.73.140 apply to personal restraint petitions filed as an original action in the court of appeals.

Because we review this case in our appellate capacity, not as an original action,

Motions under this rule are considered a form of collateral attack and are subject to the provisions against successive petitions under

RCW 10.73.140. In re Pers. Restraint of Becker, 143 Wash.2d 491, 496, 20 P.3d 409 (2001).

This Court has construed RCW 10.73.140 based on the plain language of the statute. For example, because RCW 10.73.140 applies only to the "court of appeals," a PRP that is barred as successive in the Court of Appeals may be "perfectly cognizable before this court." *In re Pers. Restraint of Perkins*, 143 Wash.2d 261, 265, 19 P.3d 1027 (2001) (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Johnson*, 131 Wash.2d 558, 566, 933 P.2d 1019 (1997)). "We have concluded that where the Court of Appeals is barred from reviewing a PRP under RCW 10.73.140, but this court is not barred, the Court of Appeals should transfer the case to this court." *Id.* at 266.

Despite the plain language of the statute and plain language review by this Court, the lower court construed PRP to mean any collateral attack. Moreover, the lower court did not construe the limitation on consideration ("will not consider the petition") to prevent consideration by the court of appeals. If the court of appeals did not have jurisdiction to consider the case, it should have dismissed the State's appeal. After all, the State could have filed its appeal directly in

this Court in order to avoid the strictures of the court rule. In contrast to its own reading of the rule, the lower court considered the merits of the order granting vacation, found that it was proper, but then vacated that order. There is nothing in RCW 10.73.140 that requires reversal of an order granting relief that is reviewed on appeal. Although the lower court fails to acknowledge this point, it read "court of appeals" to include any "superior court," just as it read "petition" to include any "collateral attack." The acrobatics involved in the lower court's judicial reconstruction of the statute would make any gymnast proud. However, it is contrary to precedent.

Moreover, even if RAP 16.5 prevented transfer to this Court, RAP 4.4 allows the Court of Appeals to seek transfer to the Supreme Court "on its own initiative." Likewise, if this Court accepted review, the lower court's reasoning would automatically become a nullity since this Court has no such restrictions resulting in a colossal waste of judicial resources.

In sum, the lower court decision undertakes a substantial rewrite of what this Court has previously acknowledged must be construed according to its plain and understandable language. An appeal to the Court of Appeals by the State is not a personal restraint petition filed in that court.

VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals.