FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/25/2022 3:58 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 1006233 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 37661-3-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

OLAJIDE ADEL FLETCHER,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW

> Kevin J. McCrae Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #43087 Attorneys for Respondent

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Mr. Fletcher's issues.

a. Does RCW 10.73.140 apply to CrR 7.8 motions brought in Superior Court?

b. Must a petitioner show good cause for a subsequent collateral attack when he was not represented by counsel in his first petition?

2. State's issues.

a. Is a mistake in miscalculating an offender score prior to imposing an exceptional sentence, where the sentence is not based on the offender score, a procedural or substantive error?

b. Does a procedural error render a judgment'invalid on its face' where the sentence was within the Court's substantive authority?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Olajide Fletcher shot Alex Tauveve five times in the legs because Mr. Fletcher thought Mr. Tauveve stole a couple of TVs from him. CP 311, 314. Fletcher originally indicated Tauveve pulled the gun first and claimed self-defense. CP 314. This was contradicted by other witnesses and the sight found on Mr. Fletcher's gun that he purchased two days before the shooting. CP 311. Mr. Fletcher claimed he fled the area to the west side of the State and had thrown away the gun, and was not armed and dangerous. CP 314-15. U.S. Marshalls found Mr. Fletcher and his girlfriend in Missoula, Montana. CP 318. Mr. Fletcher and his girlfriend got into their car as the Marshalls moved to arrest them. Mr. Fletcher used his vehicle to ram the Marshalls' car. An officer fired several rounds, but no one was hit. CP 327. In Mr. Fletcher's car officers found ammunition matching the ammunition used to shoot Mr. Tauveve, a handgun and a rifle. CP 320. The handgun had a sight on it. Mr. Fletcher bought the sight from a store in Moses Lake two days before the shooting. RP 316. Mr. Fletcher was interviewed about the incident, acknowledged the confrontation, but did not claim self-defense. CP 321.

Mr. Fletcher was charged with Assault in the First Degree. CP 1. The parties engaged in plea negotiations and Mr. Fletcher pled guilty to one count of Assault in the Second Degree, a firearm enhancement and one count of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree. CP 106-117. The parties stipulated to an exceptional sentence upwards, with an agreed recommendation:

That in lieu of and in consideration for my plea of guilty in this case, the prosecutor will recommend an exceptional sentence/incarceration of 84 months on count 1 (with a 3 year deadly weapon enhancement), 41 months on count 2 to run concurrent, for a total of 10 years. The prosecutor will file no more Washington charges based on this incident and will not charge Tia Kelly unless new information comes to light showing more involvement." CP 110.

This was an agreed recommendation of the parties. RP 6,

10, 14.

Mr. Fletcher was sentenced on February 23, 2016. RP 14. He did not appeal. The parties believed he had eight points on the Assault in the Second-Degree charge. This consisted of one adult conviction for Theft 1, a juvenile conviction for Assault 2, and a juvenile conviction for two counts of Attempted-Assault 2. He also had a conviction for a Third Degree assault the parties agreed washed. CP 69. The parties believed that under *State v. Ashley*, 187 Wn. App. 908, 911, 352 P.3d 827, 829 (2015), *aff'd in part, rev'd in part*, 186 Wn.2d 32, 375 P.3d 673 (2016), the Attempted Assault Seconds did not wash and counted as two-point multipliers on the current offense of Assault in the Second Degree, giving Mr. Fletcher eight points for that crime (two points for the Assault in the Second Degree, four points for the two Attempted Assault in Second Degree, one point for the prior Theft in the First Degree, and one point for the other current offense of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm). This would give him a standard range of 53-70 months on the Assault in the Second Degree, plus the 36-month firearm enhancement. CP 70.

On March 18, 2016 Mr. Fletcher filed a motion to modify the judgment and sentence pursuant to CrR 7.8, seeking a standard-range sentence. CP 45. Mr. Fletcher's motion was denied, and after allowing him an opportunity to withdraw it, it was transferred to the Court of Appeals as a PRP. CP 47-50. The Court of Appeals called for an answer from the State, which had attached a copy of the judgment and sentence to its

-5-

answer and provided a copy to Mr. Fletcher as well as the court. The court then rejected his motion as frivolous in March of 2017. CP 52-54.

In July of 2019 Mr. Fletcher noted another CrR 7.8 motion in the trial court. CP 55-67. He cited State v. Moeurn, 170 Wn.2d 169, 171, 240 P.3d 1158, 1159 (2010), for the proposition that his Attempted Assault in the Second Degree convictions should have washed, and thus his offender score was miscalculated. CP 58-66. The State initially objected based on RCW 10.73.140 that this was a successive collateral attack without good cause shown, and because CrR 7.8(b) incorporates RCW 10.73.140, the trial court could not consider it. CP 94. The trial court initially concluded it should not hear the motion because Mr. Fletcher did not show good cause as to why he did not initially raise the issue in his first PRP. CP 126. Mr. Fletcher responded that his first motion was dismissed as frivolous, thus not decided on the merits, and that Mr. Fletcher did not receive his judgment and sentence from his defense

counsel, but instead received a copy from the State in response to his first PRP in July/August of 2016. CP 130-138. While the Court found that Mr. Fletcher's previous petition was on the merits, and thus he needed to show good cause, the Court ruled that Mr. Fletcher had shown good cause because of the delay in receiving his judgment and sentence. CP 163-64.

The State concedes that based on *State v. Moeurn*, 170 Wn.2d 169, 171, 240 P.3d 1158, 1159 (2010), Mr. Fletcher's offender score was incorrect. However, the State also raised the issues that Mr. Fletcher's motion was untimely and that he failed to show prejudice. CP 165-167, 210. The trial court ultimately ruled that Mr. Fletcher's judgment and sentence was facially invalid, and that he did show prejudice. CP 238, 473. The Court also allowed Mr. Fletcher to argue for a sentence other than what was in the plea agreement. RP 475. Mr. Fletcher was resentenced to 77 months, which was the high end of the standard range. The State appealed the trial court's ruling on several grounds. The Court of Appeals reversed, holding the petition timely, but successive without good cause, and remanded for imposition of the original judgment and sentence. The Court did not reach all grounds argued by the State.

E. ARGUMENT WHY MR. FLETCHER'S ISSUES SHOULD BE DENIED AND THE STATE'S ISSUES SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Mr. Fletcher's petition should be denied.

a. Mr. Fletcher confuses common-law abuse of the writ doctrine with the statutory requirements of RCW 10.73.140.

For the first time in his petition for review Mr. Fletcher argues that he is not bound by RCW 10.73.140 because he was not represented by counsel in his first petition. "This (the Supreme) court does not generally consider issues raised for the first time in a petition for review." *Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350, 356–57 (1998). Thus, the court should not accept review of this issue.

Mr. Fletcher's argument also lacks merit. The abuse of the writ doctrine and RCW 10.73.140 are not the same thing. They are different restrictions with different elements. In In re Pers. Restraint of Adolph, 170 Wn.2d 556, 564, 243 P.3d 540, 544 (2010), the court analyzed the two separately. There the Court found RCW 10.73.140 did not apply to the Supreme Court, and the abuse of the writ doctrine did not apply because Adolph was not represented by counsel in his first PRP. These were separate reasons. "Under either RCW 10.73.140 (which applies only to the Court of Appeals) or RAP 16.4(d) (which applies to this court), a successive petition for similar relief must be dismissed absent good cause shown." In re Pers. *Restraint of VanDelft*, 158 Wn.2d 731, 737, 147 P.3d 573, 576 (2006)(emphasis added). The requirement to be represented in a previous petition is an element of abuse of the writ doctrine. It is not an element of RCW 10.73.140. The State has never claimed the subsequent petition was an abuse of the writ. It has consistently claimed it was a violation of RCW 10.73.140. The

Court of Appeals correctly analyzed the issue. The fact that Mr. Fletcher was not represented in his first petition is irrelevant under RCW 10.73.140. Mr. Fletcher seeks to add language to the statute that is simply not there.

b. Mr. Fletcher did not show good cause.

1) Mr. Fletcher's cause was not good.

Generally, good cause is found when there has been an intervening change in the law between a first and second petition. *In re Pers. Restraint of Flippo*, 191 Wn. App. 405, 409, 362 P.3d 1011, 1012 (2015), *aff*^ad, 187 Wn.2d 106, 385 P.3d 128 (2016). Mr. Fletcher does not point to an intervening change in the law. Just conducting new research and finding cases that are new to the petitioner does not constitute good cause. *In re Pers. Restraint of Holmes*, 121 Wn.2d 327, 330, 849 P.2d 1221, 1223 (1993). Good cause can come from an "external objective impediment," which can establish good cause, but not from a "self-created hardship," which cannot. *State v. Crumpton*, 90 Wn. App. 297, 302, 952 P.2d 1100, 1103 (1998). In Crumpton the defendant argued that indigency and the fact that he was in prison made it difficult for him to hire an investigator to obtain evidence for his personal restraint petition. The Court ruled that these were self-created hardships. A defense attorney is not external to the defendant, thus the fact that the defense attorney may not have sent Mr. Fletcher his judgment and sentence is not an external hardship. Even if a defense attorney is considered external to the defendant, all Mr. Fletcher had to do was make a request to the Grant County Clerk's Office or submit a public records request to the Prosecutor's Office and his judgment and sentence would have been produced. Mr. Fletcher faced much less hardship in obtaining the information he needed than Mr. Crumpton, and thus the cause he asserts is not good.

2) Mr. Fletcher's good cause was not cause.

Mr. Fletcher filed his first petition in March of 2016, approximately one month after his judgment and sentence became final. He claims he did not receive his judgment and sentence until the State attached it to its response to his petition, which occurred in late July or early August of 2016. Mr. Fletcher's one-year time for collateral attack ran on February 23, 2017. Mr. Fletcher had over six months after he acknowledged the impediment was removed in order to file an amended personal restraint petition raising this issue. "[A] petitioner can amend an initial PRP and raise new grounds for relief, without requesting a formal amendment, as long as the brief is timely filed and the new issue is adequately raised." *In re Pers. Restraint of Meredith*, 191 Wn.2d 300, 307, 422 P.3d 458, 462 (2018).

In addition, Mr. Fletcher waited just shy of three years after he received his judgment and sentence, from July or August of 2016 to July of 2019, before he filed his second petition. Other rules and laws that use the term "good cause" incorporate a due-diligence standard. *E.g. In re Pers. Restraint of Fowler*, 197 Wn.2d 46, 53, 479 P.3d 1164, 1168

(2021)(equitable extension of time limit due in RCW 10.73.090 due to attorney misconduct subject to due diligence requirement); Sellers v. Longview Orthopedic Associates, PLLC, 11 Wn. App. 2d 515, 520, 455 P.3d 166, 170, review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1017, 461 P.3d 1201 (2020)(the general rule is that [t]o establish good cause under CR 55, a party may demonstrate excusable neglect and due diligence); State v. Tetreault, 99 Wn. App. 435, 438, 998 P.2d 330, 332 (2000)(factor in considering good cause for extension of restitution timeline in criminal cases is diligence in procuring necessary evidence); Bramall v. Wales, 29 Wn. App. 390, 393, 628 P.2d 511, 513 (1981)(showing of good cause for continuance for failure to conduct discovery must be based on a showing of due diligence); State v. Turner, 16 Wn. App. 292, 296, 555 P.2d 1382, 1384 (1976)(good cause for continuance when due diligence has been shown to procure evidence).

A due-diligence requirement to show good cause under RCW 10.73.140 is logical. As in this case due diligence is directly linked to causation. It is simply not credible that the cause of the delay in filing Mr. Fletcher's second petition was the failure to obtain his judgment and sentence, when it took him almost three years after he received his document to file his petition, and he could have easily amended his original petition to include it. Rather the delay was Mr. Fletcher suddenly coming up with a new legal theory. Due diligence is also in keeping with the purpose of the statute. "The principle underlying the rule barring successive collateral attacks is the need for judicial finality regarding claims that have already been adjudicated." In re Pers. Restraint of Becker, 143 Wn.2d 491, 496, 20 P.3d 409, 412 (2001). Allowing defendants to sit on their claims for as much time as they like disrupts the principles of finality.

It is clear that the delay in filing Mr. Fletcher's second petition was not caused by the delay in receiving his judgment and sentence. His failure to exercise due diligence for three years indicates the two are not causally related. The term "good

-14-

cause" includes a due-diligence requirement. If a five-month delay in obtaining a readily available document constitutes good cause to file a subsequent petition three years later, the good cause requirement for filing a subsequent PRP is meaningless. Mr. Fletcher failed to show good cause.

c. RCW 10.73.140 is made applicable to the Superior Courts by CrR 7.8.

RCW 10.73.140 states, in relevant part,

If a person has previously filed a petition for personal restraint, the court of appeals will not consider the petition unless the person certifies that he or she has not filed a previous petition on similar grounds, and shows good cause why the petitioner did not raise the new grounds in the previous petition. Upon receipt of a personal restraint petition, the court of appeals shall review the petition and determine whether the person has previously filed a petition or petitions and if so, compare them. If upon review, the court of appeals finds that the petitioner has previously raised the same grounds for review, or that the petitioner has failed to show good cause why the ground was not raised earlier, the court of appeals shall dismiss the petition on its own motion without requiring the state to respond to the petition...

By its terms, the statute only applies to personal restraint petitions (PRP's) in the Court of Appeals. However, CrR 7.8(b) states that motions brought under that rule are "subject to RCW 10.73.090, .100, .130 and .140." Thus, the subsequent petition rule in RCW 10.73.140 applies to Mr. Fletcher's petition. *Also In re Pers. Restraint of Becker*, 143 Wn.2d 491, 496, 20 P.3d 409, 411 (2001). As a matter of policy, this is also correct. Defendants should not be able to get around procedural requirements by simply filing their petitions in a different court.

Mr. Fletcher incorrectly states that both parties agreed that the successive petition bar only applies in the Court of Appeals. Brief or Petitioner at 10. He does not cite to anywhere in the record that states that agreement. Indeed, the entire premise of the arguments in the lower courts is that it did apply, in accordance with the plain language of CrR 7.8(b). Mr. Fletcher misstates the law when he claims that RCW 10.73.140 does not apply when the petitioner was unrepresented in the prior PRP. The proper procedure upon

-16-

remand for an error is for the appellate court to place the parties in a position as near to the position they would be in if the error had not been made. Here, according to the Court of Appeals opinion, the trial court should have dismissed the petition for failure to show good cause pursuant to RCW 10.73.140. That is exactly what the Court of Appeals ordered.

d. There is no double-jeopardy issue and the State could not directly appeal the vacation of the judgment and sentence under then existing mandatory Court of Appeals precedent.

In a footnote Mr. Fletcher alleges a double-jeopardy violation because the State appealed after the trial court entered the new judgment and sentence, rather than immediately after it vacated the old sentence. First, under *State v. Waller*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 523, 536, 458 P.3d 817, 824, *rev'd and remanded*, 197 Wn.2d 218, 481 P.3d 515 (2021), which was controlling law at the time the judgment was vacated, the State did not have the right to appeal until a new judgment and sentence was entered amending the old one. While the Court of Appeals rule was later found by the Supreme Court to be erroneous, it was applicable at the relevant time.

The State had the right to appeal either under RAP 2.2(b)(1) final judgment, or 2.2(b)(3) arrest or vacation of judgment. There is no rule the State is aware of that required the State to appeal the first time one of these options becomes available, as long as it does so within 30 days of final judgment.

In addition, double jeopardy does not prohibit the State's appeal from an erroneous sentence. "The double jeopardy clause does not generally prohibit review of an allegedly erroneous sentence." *State v. Hardesty*, 129 Wn.2d 303, 310, 915 P.2d 1080, 1084 (1996). "The defendant acquires a legitimate expectation of finality in a sentence, substantially or fully served, unless the defendant was on notice the sentence might be modified, due to either a pending appeal or the defendant's own fraud in obtaining the erroneous sentence." *Id.* at 312. Here the State timely appealed from the erroneous sentence. Mr. Fletcher never had an expectation of finality.

2. The Court should grant review and determine that Mr. Fletcher's petition was untimely.

a. State's Standing to Petition

Ultimately the State prevailed in the Court of Appeals based on the failure to show good cause for a successive petition. However, the Court of Appeals also reached the timeliness issue, which the State did not prevail on. Because the State has an interest in ensuring that it can enforce the time limits in RCW 10.73.090, the State is an aggrieved party within the meaning of RAP 3.1. *State v. Bergstrom*, __Wn.2d __,

___P.3d___(2022)(slip opinion at 10 n.10). The timeliness issue is also an alternative means of affirmance of the Court of

Appeals opinion, should the Court grant Mr. Fletcher's petition.

b. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with In re Personal Restraint of Flippo, In re Personal Restraint of Sargent, State v. Evans, State v. Buckman, and many others.

The Court of Appeals decision in holding that the rule announced in *State v. Parker*, 132 Wn.2d 182, 187, 937 P.2d 575, 578 (1997), was substantive conflicts with multiple holdings of the Washington State Supreme Court. *Parker* held that a court must correctly determine the standard sentencing range, even if the court imposes an exceptional sentence. However, *Parker* was a case on direct appeal. This case is an untimely PRP. For Mr. Fletcher to obtain relief he must establish that his judgment and sentence was facially invalid.

"Facial validity depends on whether the court exceeded its *substantive* authority." *In re Pers. Restraint of Flippo*, 187 Wn.2d 106, 110, 385 P.3d 128, 131 (2016)(emphasis added), "we have never found a judgment invalid merely because the error invited the court to exceed its authority when the court did not in fact exceed its authority. Only where the judgment and sentence was entered by a court without the authority to do so have we held the judgment invalid." *In re Pers. Restraint of Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123, 136, 267 P.3d 324, 331 (2011). "Procedural rules are designed to enhance the accuracy of a conviction or sentence by regulating 'the *manner of* *determining*' the defendant's culpability. Substantive rules set forth categorical constitutional guarantees that place certain criminal laws and punishments altogether beyond the State's power to impose." *In re Pers. Restraint of Marshall*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 626, 641 455 P.3d 1163 (2019)(emphasis in original)(internal citations omitted).

In *Flippo* the petitioner argued that his judgment and sentence was invalid on its face because it revealed the Court did not conduct an individualized determination of his ability to pay legal financial obligations. *Flippo* contended "[i]f the trial court fails to engage in the required inquiries, it lacks authority to impose discretionary LFOs." *Flippo*, 187 Wn.2d at 110. The Court responded to this argument "This is not so; Flippo's argument erroneously conflates the substantive authority to impose discretionary LFOs with the proper procedure for doing so."

Here the Court of Appeals made the same mistake as the petitioner in *Flippo*. It conflated the substantive authority to

impose an exceptional sentence with the proper procedure for doing so. The substantive authority to impose an exceptional sentence was granted by the parties' stipulation per RCW 9.94A.535(2)(a). "The SRA provides the procedure by which a defendant's sentence may be imposed. The purpose of [the SRA] is to make the criminal justice system accountable to the public by developing a system for the sentencing of felony offenders which structures, but does not eliminate, discretionary decisions affecting sentences. The SRA therefore provides some limitations on a sentencing court's determinations, but does not remove the court's discretion. Thus, the SRA is generally procedural in nature." In re Pers. Restraint of Sargent, 499 P.3d 241, 247 (Wash. Ct. App. 2021).

Perhaps most telling is the fact that the procedural rule announced in *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 2538, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004), which requires a jury finding to impose aggravating factors that are not stipulated to, was procedural, not substantive. State v. Evans, 154 Wn.2d

438, 442, 114 P.3d 627, 630 (2005).

Another formulation of the definition of procedural

versus substantive is

Substantive law prescribes norms for societal conduct and punishments for violations thereof. It thus creates, defines, and regulates primary rights. In contrast, practice and procedure pertain to the essentially mechanical operations of the courts by which substantive law, rights, and remedies are effectuated.

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